
 
 

                     MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
                                CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 
                                    6801 Delmar Blvd. 
                         University City, Missouri 63130 
                                      January 25, 2016 
                                            6:30 p.m. 
 
 

 
 
A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER  
 
B. ROLL CALL  
 
C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
D. PROCLAMATIONS 

 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

1. January 11, 2016 Regular Session minutes 
 
F. APPOINTMENTS  

1. Robert Kuhlman, Jr. is nominated for reappointment to the Economic Development Retail 
Sales Tax Board by Mayor Welsch. 

2. Steven Goldstein is nominated for reappointment to the Park Commission and Curtis 
Tunstall and Eva Creer are nominated for reappointment to the Traffic Commission by 
Councilmember Kraft. 

3. Felecia Hickman is nominated for appointment to the Arts & Letters Commission by 
Councilmember Jennings, replacing Joy Wade. 

4. Joe Edwards, Dan Wald, Michael Alter, Shawn Jacobs, Angela Fitzgerald, Ryan 
Patterson, Nora Vandivort, Steve Stone and Mary Gorman are appointed the Loop 
Special Business District Board by Mayor Welsch. 
 

G. SWEARING IN  
1. Nora Vandivort was sworn in to the Loop Special Business District Commission in the City 

Clerk’s office. 
 

H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 
 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
J. CONSENT AGENDA  

 
K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

BILLS 
1. BILL 9282 – An ordinance approving a final plat for a minor subdivision of a tract of land 

to be known as 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue Condominium, a survey and condominium 
plat of Lots B, C and east five feet of Lot D in Block 9 of Bellemoor Park amended 
subdivision 

 
 
 



 
M. NEW BUSINESS 

RESOLUTIONS 
 
BILLS 

 
N. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continued if needed) 

 
O. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 

1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
Q. ADJOURNMENT 



 
MINUTES OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

CITY HALL, Fifth Floor 
6801 Delmar Blvd. 

University City, Missouri 63130 
January 11, 2016 

6:30 p.m. 
 
A. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER  

At the Regular Session of the City Council of University City held on the fifth floor of City Hall, 
on Monday, January 11, 2016, Mayor Shelley Welsch called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. 

 
B. ROLL CALL  

In addition to the Mayor the following members of Council were present: 
 
   Councilmember Rod Jennings 
   Councilmember Paulette Carr  
   Councilmember Stephen Kraft 
   Councilmember Terry Crow 
   Councilmember Michael Glickert                                              
    Councilmember Arthur Sharpe, Jr. 
 
 Also in attendance was City Manager, Lehman Walker. 

 
C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Councilmember Sharpe moved to approve the agenda as presented, was seconded by 
Councilmember Glickert and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
D. PROCLAMATIONS 

 
E. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

1. December 14, 2015 Regular Session minutes were moved by Councilmember Jennings, 
seconded by Councilmember Sharpe and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
F. APPOINTMENTS  

 
G. SWEARING IN  

1. Sandy Jacobson was sworn in to the Historic Preservation Commission in the City Clerk’s 
office. 
 

Mayor Welsch then provided the following reminder to those in the audience.  If you would like to 
speak to the Council, on agenda or non-agenda items, you should fill out a speaker request form 
that can be found to the left of the door into the Chamber.  Please indicate on that sheet if you want 
to speak on an agenda or non-agenda item, and note the agenda item number on the form. Your 
completed form should be placed in the plastic trays in front of the City Clerk prior to the start of 
Council discussion on an agenda item on which you would like to speak.  The Council Reports & 
business section is for Council discussion.  Those asking to speak on those issues may do so 
during the regular Citizen Comments sections of the agenda. Comments should be limited to five 
(5) minutes.   
     Decorum at Council meetings is required in order to make possible civil discourse among people 
who may have different views.  With that in mind, personal attacks on City Council members, staff 
and anyone else will be ruled out of order.  I reserve the right to disallow those engaging in 
personal attacks to speak at this or future Council meetings. 

1 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-1



     As I have said in the past, if someone chooses to continue speaking beyond the Council-
accepted time limit on an individual citizen comment, after my advising of the deadline, I will not call 
them to the podium at future meetings.  I will consider a request for additional time – but the 
speaker must make a request to go beyond the time limit and be given permission to do so.   
     Finally, I encourage members of this Council to remember that, per our Council rules, we follow 
Roberts Rules of Order.  According to Robert’s Rules, we should all desist in making personal 
attacks on our colleagues – limiting our comments to the merits of an issue, and not calling into 
question the motives of our colleagues. 
     A reminder to those in the audience - this Council cannot discuss personnel matters, legal or 
real estate issues in public sessions. Members of this Council and the City Manager will not 
immediately respond to questions raised at our meetings, however, responses will be provided by 
an appropriate person as quickly as possible. 
     Again, personal attacks on City Council members, staff, and anyone else by members of the 
public or by members of this Council will be ruled out of order. I reserve the right not to call back to 
the podium at this or future meetings anyone who engages in personal attacks on anyone. 
     These meetings are held for this Council to do the business of the people.  That is what we 
should all be focusing upon. 

 
H. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (Total of 15 minutes allowed) 
 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
J. CONSENT AGENDA  

 
K. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT  

1. Approval to authorize the City Manager to execute an agreement with CBB to provide 
traffic signal maintenance services. 
 

Councilmember Sharpe moved to approve, was seconded by Councilmember Glickert and the 
motion carried unanimously. 

 
2. Approval to award the bid to Energy Petroleum Company to supply gasoline, diesel and 

biodiesel fuel for use in City vehicles and equipment. 
 

Councilmember Sharpe moved to approve, was seconded by Councilmember Glickert and the 
motion carried unanimously. 

 
3. Approval to award the City’s annual tree trimming contract to Clipper Tree Services in the 

amount of $59,475.00 
 

Councilmember Kraft moved to approve, was seconded by Councilmember Glickert. 
 
Citizen Comments 
Tim Gamma, 1564 North and South Road, University City, MO 
Mr. Gamma, owner of Gamma Shield Shade Tree, questioned the   City’s loyalty to one of its 
own businesses.   He stated that his bid for this contract was $474 dollars higher than the 
lowest bid of an unknown company.  He questioned whether electing to take the lowest bid 
from an unknown contractor, to maintain the City's growing asset of 915 street trees, is worth 
risking for $474 dollars.  Mr. Gamma stated that he appreciates the business this City has 
given to his company in the past.   
 
Council Comments 
Councilmember Crow asked Mr. Walker if he would walk Council through the bidding process.  
Mr. Walker asked Project Engineer Ms. Megan Fuller, the Project Manager, to go through the 

2 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-2



bid process. 
 
Ms. Fuller stated that the initial analysis is based on unit price, which deemed Clipper to be 
the lowest responsible, responsive bidder.  Thereafter, staffed conducted a review of the 
company's references/qualifications, and based on that information, rendered their 
recommendation.   
 
Councilmember Crow asked how long Clipper had been in business and where their offices 
were located?  Ms. Fuller stated that they have been located in St. Louis County for 
approximately one year. 
 
Councilmember Crow recalled that when the lowest bidder was discussed with respect to an 
attorney for the city and prosecuting attorney, the conversation evolved around the need to 
retain the best rather than the lowest bid.  This business has paid taxes in U City for twenty-
two years should have weight on a $474 dollars savings. 
 
Andrea Riganti, Director of Community Development, stated that although this is something 
that can be amended by Council, the recommendation was made pursuant to an ordinance 
and not a policy.   
 
Councilmember Crow questioned whether the selection of a tree service provider was being 
held to a different standard than the selection of a law firm?  Mr. Walker stated that selecting a 
provider of professional services is completely different than selecting a commercial service 
because the ordinance directs staff to select the lowest responsible bidder.  He stated that his 
advice to members of Council who inquired about this issue was that Council could change 
the policy with respect to bids, if they so desired.  
 
Councilmember Crow stated that reflecting back on previous contracts he does not believe 
that the lowest bidder has always been selected. Councilmember Crow moved to postpone 
approval of this item and was seconded by Councilmember Glickert. 
 
Councilmember Glickert stated that when he was concerned, even though staff did what they 
were mandated to do to select the lowest bidder.  His belief is that there is some leeway 
contained in the bidding process for businesses located within the State of Missouri, and when 
bids are close; as in this case, the award goes to the company located within the state.  
Councilmember Glickert asked Mr. Walker if he would provide Council with timeframes 
associated with awarding the contract and amending the ordinance.  Mr. Walker advised 
Council to conduct a study session prior to the next meeting, to discuss both issues and 
ensure that staff receives clear directions. 
 
Councilmember Sharpe questioned whether there were any other means available to address 
Council's concerns?  Mr. Walker stated that his belief is that in order for staff to be consistent 
in making recommendations they will need a clear policy and direction from Council. 
 
Councilmember Carr stated that since she is an advocate of hiring and recruiting local 
businesses, she would have to agree with both of her colleagues that this award needs to be 
reexamined.  And although she finds no fault with Ms. Fuller's actions, staff will need very 
clear directives in terms of how to evaluate projects going forward.  Councilmember Carr 
asked Mr. Walker if he would provide Council with a copy of the pertinent ordinance, and 
whether there was a specific date that a decision was needed.  Mr. Walker stated that his 
hope is that a decision would be made sooner, rather than later, which is why he would like to 
schedule a study session prior to the next meeting to resolve this matter. 
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Crow's motion to postpone carried unanimously. 

3 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-3



 
Point of Order:  Councilmember Glickert questioned if the motion was to postpone until the 
next meeting or indefinitely?   
 
Councilmember Carr suggested that the item be postponed until February, to allow staff time 
to make the necessary changes to the ordinance, should that be Council's desire.  
Councilmembers Crow and Glickert concurred with Councilmember Carr's suggestion. 
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Crow's amended motion to postpone the item until February, 
carried unanimously. 
 
4. Approval to award contract to Froesel Tire for heavy truck tire refurbishment and tire 

services. 
 

Councilmember Sharpe moved to approve, was seconded by Councilmember Jennings and 
the motion carried unanimously. 

 
5. Approval of Police Facility analysis public survey. 

 
Councilmember Glickert moved to approve and was seconded by Councilmember Jennings. 
 
Councilmember Carr asked if the survey had been presented to the Historic Preservation 
Commission to review the historic elements and background statements.  Mr. Walker stated 
that it had not been presented to the commission.  Councilmember Carr made a motion to 
postpone this item until it has been reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission and 
was seconded by Councilmember Crow. 
 
Mayor Welsch stated that the language in the survey has been vetted by staff and since 
Council is under a time crunch with respect to making a decision on the police station and 
Historic Preservation will not meet until the end of the month, she did not support this motion.   
 
Councilmember Carr stated that this is an expensive endeavor and asked the Mayor to 
explain what time crunch Council was facing.  Mayor Welsch stated that her statement was 
based on Captain Jackson's constant reminder during public meetings about the City's need 
to meet the accreditation requirements under Missouri Senate Bill No. 5.  Employees must be 
in the building for three years in order to get the appropriate accreditation, which means that 
the City must have a renovated the current station or build new police station in place within 
two to two and a half years.  She stated that should Council decide to move forward, residents 
will receive additional information on the historic qualities of the building, but if the police 
department is not accredited, it will be disbanded.   
 
Councilmember Crow stated that while he appreciates Senate Bill No. 5, and thinks that it 
should be given serious consideration, in this situation Council will be asking taxpayers for 9 to 
20 million dollars, so taking a month to ensure that it is done right, would not too much to ask. 
 
Mayor Welsch noted for the record that Council has not discussed how the police station 
would be financed. 
 
Councilmember Kraft stated that Council should receive input from the Historic Preservation 
Commission, which in actuality is sending it to the citizens whose taxes are going to pay for 
this structure.      
 
Councilmember Sharpe asked Mr. Walker if there was a timeline with respect to when the 
survey needed to be approved.  Mr. Walker stated that it would be helpful to proceed as 

4 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-4



quickly as possible to ensure that it is distributed to all of the City's boards, commissions and 
residents, and they have ample opportunity to respond and provide input.  He stated that the 
survey had been sent to Council some time ago, asking for comments, and to date, only one 
member of Council provided comments.  So he sees no need to delay approval.  
 
Councilmember Crow stated that this timeframe needs to be presented to Council so that they 
can get a better understanding of exactly what limitations they are working under. 
 
Councilmember Carr stated that the reason she had made the motion is because of some 
misleading statements in the historic background; the analysis does not take into account any 
historic restoration, and the statement which implies that the City could renovate the annex 
apart from the building, at a cost of twelve million dollars, is somewhat suspect.  She stated 
that what has been produced is not just an open-ended survey, but a document that basically 
leads you in a particular direction.  She would like to make sure this survey goes out it with 
bona fide facts that someone else has also signed off on it.   
 
Mayor Welsch pointed out that the first two and a half pages of the analysis provided a 
breakdown of the price for the annex renovation, a new facility, and what it would cost if they 
did a white box renovation for future use.  
 
Point of Information:  Councilmember Kraft asked for a clarification on what Council was being 
asked to vote on?  Mayor Welsch stated that the vote was for Councilmember Carr's motion to 
delay consideration of the study until it has been reviewed by the Historic Preservation 
Commission. 
 
Ms. Riganti advised Council that the Historic Preservation Commission would not be meeting 
in January, so there would be a two month delay.   
 
Councilmember Carr asked if the Commission could call a special meeting.  Mr. Walker stated 
that he did not see the point of making such a request, and suggested that Councilmember 
Carr submit any questions regarding the survey to staff and they would review them.  
Councilmember Carr agreed to do so, if her motion was denied.  She then requested that a 
roll call vote be taken.  
 
Roll Call Vote on Councilmember Carr's motion was:   
AYES:   Councilmembers Carr and Crow. 
NAYS:  Councilmembers Glickert, Sharpe, Jennings, Kraft and Mayor Welsch. 
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Glickert's motion to approve the survey carried by a majority 
with Nay votes from Councilmembers Carr and Crow. 

 
L. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

BILLS 
1. BILL 9279 – An ordinance of the City of University City, Missouri; repealing Section 

120.480 of Chapter 120 of the City of University City Municipal Code; and enacting in lieu 
thereof a new Section 120.480.  Bill 9279 was read for the second and third time. 
 

Councilmember Sharpe moved to approve and was seconded by Councilmember Glickert. 
 
Councilmember Carr stated that at the last meeting she requested an explanation for why the 
members on this board were being increased, and she is still waiting for a response.  She 
stated that although she is not necessarily opposed to this increase, it meant that the Mayor 
would be the one appointing two additional members, the School Board will get one, and the 
County will get one.  She has been a little distressed over the fact that monies generated by 

5 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-5



this fund have been used for non-bid projects involving personal friends to some of her 
colleagues on Council. 
 
Councilmember Crow stated that while it is always nice to have more members, specifically if 
they share different opinions, under the current circumstances it would appear as though we 
are stacking the court by giving the Mayor the opportunity to make further appointments and 
would also like to hear about the benefits of this increase.  
 
Councilmember Glickert stated that historically, mayors have had the luxury of making these 
appointments.  However, in this situation, appointments will only be made with the consent of 
the Council. 
 
Councilmember Kraft stated that his experience is that the individual appointed by the County 
does not show up a good percentage of the time, making a quorum difficult to achieve; 
enlarging the board would provide for wider representation. He believed it was a good idea.   
 
Mayor Welsch stated that by Missouri State Statute, whoever is Mayor will appoint to this 
board.  She stated that State Representative Rory. Ellinger worked for two years to get this 
amendment.  The challenge is the way the statute was written; cities with 300 people had the 
same number of citizen representatives, as a city of 35,000 as University City or 50,000 as the 
City of Florissant.  Mayor Welsch said she felt that University City should have more citizens 
involved in this process.  As Councilmember Glickert pointed out, whoever the Mayor 
recommends must come to the Council for approval and the commission only makes 
recommendations to this Council and staff.  She thought any insinuations that somehow Mr. 
Kuhlman, Mr. Adegboye or Mr. Winer is somehow doing the bidding of the Mayor are wrong.   
 
Roll Call Vote:   
AYES:  Councilmembers Glickert, Sharpe, Jennings, Kraft and Mayor Welsch. 
NAYS:   Councilmembers Carr and Crow. 

 
2. BILL 9280 – An ordinance of the City of University City, Missouri; repealing Section 

120.490 of Chapter 120 of the City of University City Municipal Code; and enacting in lieu 
thereof a new Section 120.490.  Bill 9280 was read for the second and third time. 
 

Councilmember Sharpe moved to approve and was seconded by Councilmember Carr. 
 
Roll Call Vote:   
AYES:  Councilmembers Glickert, Sharpe, Jennings, Kraft, Councilmember Carr, 
Councilmember Crow and Mayor Welsch. 
NAYS:   
 
3.  BILL 9281 – An ordinance submitting to the qualified voters of the City of University City, 
Missouri, at an election to be held on April 5, 2016, a proposed amendment to Charter of the 
City of University City adding section 97 of Article XI of the Charter requiring the approval of a 
majority of the qualified voters prior to the sale, lease or disposition of University City Heritage 
Sites.  Bill 9281 was read for the second and third time. 

 
Councilmember Carr moved to approve and was seconded by Councilmember Glickert. 
 
Roll Call Vote:   
AYES:  Councilmembers Glickert, Sharpe, Jennings, Kraft, Carr, Crow and Mayor Welsch. 
NAYS:   
 

 
6 

 

January 25, 2016 E-1-6



M. NEW BUSINESS 
RESOLUTIONS 
     Introduced by Councilmember Sharpe 
1. Resolution 2016 – 1  Fiscal Year 2016 – Budget Amendment #2.  Seconded by 

Councilmember Jennings. 
 

Councilmember Carr asked Mr. Walker if Loop Special Business District, LSBD money had 
been spent to help some of the businesses?  Mr. Walker stated that it had been.  
Councilmember Carr questioned whether this money had actually come from the LSBD?  Mr. 
Walker stated that it had. 
     Councilmember Carr stated that she had called the treasurer for the LSBD and asked if 
they had paid the money for the loans and he said that he had been told by Ms. Riganti that 
the money had come from the Economic Development Retail Sales Tax, EDRST.  Ms. Riganti 
stated that since the LSBD is under the auspices of University City, rather than sending a 
check to LSBD and having it come through them, oftentimes the City will pay Loop vendors 
directly.  In this case, the check came directly from the City to the recipients of the funds.  
Councilmember Carr asked if the treasurer's signature would have been on the check since 
two signatures are needed.  Ms. Riganti stated that although two signatures are needed, the 
current treasurer has not been officially voted in or approved by City Council.  Therefore, the 
check would have been signed by the previous treasurer and one of the two designated 
signatories.   
     Councilmember Carr asked Mr. Walker if she could receive a copy of the cancelled check 
and any associated paperwork.   
 
Councilmember Kraft made a motion to remove the $50,000 budget amendment item for 
Miscellaneous Improvements; (Forgivable Loan Program for Loop Businesses), under the 
Economic Development Sales Tax heading and was seconded by Councilmember Jennings. 
     Councilmember Kraft stated that while he is sympathetic to businesses in the Loop who 
have been damaged by the trolley construction he thought that they deserve compensation 
but through a different source.  With respect to liability, the original agreement was amended 
to ensure that University City would not be responsible for any financial damage caused as a 
result of the trolley.  That is exactly what this is, a negative economic impact to Loop 
businesses that is a direct result of the trolley construction.  As an elected official who is 
financially responsible for the welfare of this City, he did not believe that the City should be 
spending money on this issue.  Councilmember Kraft stated that the trolley was sold to the 
City based on its ability to promote economic development, but instead, it has mired the City's 
development.   
 
Councilmember Jennings stated that he would like to see the funds increased and the 
residency requirement reduced in order to provide assistance to some of the newer 
businesses that have also been impacted by this construction.   
 
Councilmember Carr stated that the Mayor and Joe Edwards had to ask the County Executive 
for three million dollars in order to complete construction.  So although she understands what 
Councilmember Kraft is saying, the trolley is broke.  In some respects, the City is culpable 
since Council voted to approve this project.  She stated that funds from EDRST are used for 
business retention and attraction. She noted the Loop contributes about 25% of the City's 
retail sales tax and would not benefit from empty storefronts.  Councilmember Carr stated that 
if this resolution did not pass she would remind Council every time there is a new empty 
storefront.   
 
Councilmember Kraft stated that the last time this resolution was brought up he had asked 
staff to go back and find some partners that would be willing to help the City by providing 
matching funds.  Because the Economic Development and LSBD funds come from the 

7 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-7



taxpayers, and it's hard to imagine that out of 53 million dollars the trolley does not have 
$50,000 to kick in.  He stated that landlords are another group that could partner with the City 
by providing rent abatements to those businesses who are struggling.   
 
Councilmember Crow stated that it's kind of a rhetorical question to say that the City should 
partner with the landlords, when no one on this dais has asked them if they were willing to 
become a partner.  To a struggling business owner it might appear as though Council is trying 
to pass the buck to someone else.  Councilmember Crow stated in perspective, a few lines 
down from the $50,000 forgivable loan to help business owners is a line item for $400,000 
allocated to perform additional work on the Ruth Park Golf Course  that benefits one family.    
 
Councilmember Kraft advised Councilmember Crow that his next motion was to ask that the 
$400,000 be removed. 
 
Mayor Welsch stated that, to clarify, the $400,000 is the result of a settlement agreement from 
a lawsuit filed against the City, by one of its residents.     
 
Councilmember Carr stated that when the Special Business District was formed, they decided 
to increase taxes in the Loop so that they could have extra money to invest back into the 
district therefore the money is their tax dollars.  She stated that the smart thing to do is to work 
on business retention and attraction, because that is what's going to keep this community 
healthy.  She felt it was a wise investment since the loan includes a termination clause making 
owners responsible for repayment should they decide to leave.    
 
Councilmember Sharpe concurred with the statements made by Councilmember Carr. 
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Kraft's motion to remove the $50,000, failed, with Ayes from 
Councilmember Kraft, Glickert and Jennings. 
 
Councilmember Kraft made a motion to remove the $725,000 line item for golf improvements.   
He noted it was premature since the Parks Commission has just begun to discuss this issue.  
He stated that a landscape architect is actually working on a design to fix some of the major 
problems with lights and the driving range, but the Commission has only heard a portion of the 
plan.  Councilmember Kraft stated that in the last seven or eight years the City has already 
spent half a million dollars on the driving range, and when you think about the City's other 
pending needs, the value in spending this amount of money on a golf course, is simply not 
there.  He asked that the Park Commission be allowed to complete their review and 
recommendation process and was seconded by Councilmember Jennings. 
 
Councilmember Glickert stated that he was not in disagreement with Councilmember Kraft's 
comments because the driving range is hemorrhaging.  However, since $300,000 has already 
been appropriated for work that is going to start fairly soon, he would like to make sure that 
that portion remained.  He stated that after talking with the City Manager about this issue, they 
both agreed that the best way to get a handle on this project would be to conduct a study 
session in concert with the Parks Commission.   
 
Mayor Welsch stated that she had no problem with delaying the appropriation of these funds, 
but would like a clarification as to whether the $300,000 represented the money that Rich 
Wilson had set aside for dealing with grading along the slope, and the installation of an 
irrigation system to help eliminate the drainage problem.  She stated that it was also her 
understanding that $400,000 of the funds was related to the settlement agreement.  And if that 
is correct, then there is a need to move quickly, since the settlement asserts that work must 
finished by the end of March.  Mayor Welsch concurred with Councilmember Glickert's 
suggestion to conduct a study session and asked Mr. Walker if he would make the necessary 

8 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-8



arrangements.   
 
Councilmember Sharpe stated that he was not in favor of the motion to eliminate the funds, 
but did believe a study session was in order to determine the next steps. 
 
Councilmember Kraft stated that Interim Director of Public Works and Parks Sinan Alpaslan 
will be out of the country until later this week, so he was unable to get clarification on his 
questions.  However, Mr. Wilson had made it quite clear that monies had already been set 
aside in the budget for the settlement, and that seemed to be the finance director’s 
understanding as well.  So if $300,000 has already been set aside he certainly did not think 
they should add another $725,000. 
 
Voice vote on Councilmember Kraft's motion to remove the $725,000, carried unanimously.   
 
Councilmember Jennings moved to approve the resolution as amended; removing 
$77250,000 for the golf course and retaining $50,000 for the forgivable loans, was seconded 
by Councilmember Carr and the motion carried unanimously. 
 

Introduced by Councilmember Jennings 
2. Resolution 2016 – 2  City Council’s censure of Councilmember Terry Crow.  Requested 

by Councilmember Jennings and seconded by Councilmember Glickert.  Seconded by 
Councilmember Glickert. 
 

Councilmember Jennings stated that given that this resolution has been labeled as political 
retribution or an attempt to affect Councilmember Crow's reelection, he would like to table the 
Quo Warranto Petition.   
 
Point of Order:  Councilmember Kraft stated that in his opinion, a motion to table the Quo 
Warranto Petition would be out of order since it did not exist. 
 
Councilmember Jennings concurred.  He stated that he will not be distracted, and that he 
takes his oath very seriously.  He stated that it is his belief that the information Councilmember 
Crow provided from the City Attorney to a party engaged in a lawsuit against the City was in 
violation of Councilmember Crow's oath, the City's Charter, its codes, and was not in the best 
interest of the City.  He stated that he was shocked and disturbed specifically with respect to 
the statement in Councilmember Crow's email, "Does this help?"   
 
Councilmember Kraft made a motion to remove this resolution from the agenda and was 
seconded by Councilmember Carr.  Councilmember Kraft stated that in his opinion, Council 
has already discussed this issue and believed that they all have better things to discuss.   
 
Roll Call Vote on Councilmember Kraft's Motion: 
AYES:  Councilmembers Carr, Kraft and Crow. 
NAYS:  Councilmembers Sharpe, Jennings, Glickert and Mayor Welsch. 
 
Citizen Comments: 
Gerald Greiman, 7042 Westmoreland, University City, MO 
Mr. Greiman, stated that he is appearing as a lawyer representing Councilmember Crow.  He 
stated that he had submitted four letters to Council and asked that they be made a part of the 
record of this meeting.   
     Mr. Greiman stated that when the Quo Warranto Petition was shown false, Mayor Welsch 
and her allies shifted their attack to a resolution to censure Councilmember Crow, on the 
premise that he had divulged a privileged and confidential attorney/client email which harmed 
the City's interest in a lawsuit then pending against the firefighters.  Mr. Greiman noted the 

9 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-9



email contained information that the City is required to make public; information about the 
status of the City's regulations concerning first responder's rights to engage in political activity.  
There was nothing confidential about the email or the information contained in it, and was 
irrelevant to the pending litigation.  Mr. Greiman stated that the email in question was 
presented at a Civil Service Board meeting and the City Attorney had no objection to its 
admission.  He noted that an audio recording of the hearing is available on the City's website.   
     Mr. Greiman stated that the resolution abandons any claim that the forwarded email was a 
confidential document.  He stated Councilmember Crow’s job is to use his discretion, as he 
thinks best, to act in furtherance of the City's interest.  Mr. Greiman stated that constitutional 
due process requires that Councilmember Crow be afforded a hearing before any discipline 
can be imposed.  That request has been made, and to date, they have not even received the 
courtesy of a response to that request.   
 
Diane Davenport, 74 Yale Avenue, University City, MO 
Ms. Davenport defined terms to describe her feelings about the resolution to censure 
Councilmember Crow.  She asked that Council work to become a collegial leadership. 
 
Suzanne Greenwald, 836 Barkley Square, University City, MO 
Ms. Greenwald stated that Dr. Walter Erlich, her history teacher at University City High 
School, taught her that brave men fought and died so that we the people could elect officials 
who would be duty-bound to carry out our will.  She stated that everyone knows that 
Councilmember Crow is an honorable man.  
 
Leif Johnson, 836 Barkley Square, University City, MO 
Mr. Johnson stated that many members of this audience have come to begin the process of 
taking this government back from the followers of Edmund Burke; to guarantee that Terry 
Crow remains in office, and to restore to U City a government that is of the people, by the 
people and for the people.   
 
John Rava, 7129 Washington Avenue, University City, MO 
Mr. Rava stated that after the last Council meeting Councilmember Glickert seemed to 
indicate that Council should not go forward with this proposed action, and that they had 
proceeded without giving the issue proper consideration because Mayor Welsch had insisted 
upon it.  It was disappointing to see Councilmember Glickert co-sponsor of this new resolution.   
     Mr. Rava stated that University City has been justly vilified in the press for its pettiness and 
dysfunction, rather than taking its proper role as the leading community of inclusion and a 
progressive government.  He urged Council to exercise good common sense, and withdraw 
this resolution.   
 
Judith Conoyor, 6404 Cates Avenue, University City, MO 
Ms. Conoyor stated that the City's Attorney, Katie Forster, said under oath, on May 29, 2014, 
that the email in question was a public document.  This was the same document that the City 
Clerk released pursuant to a public records request; the City Manager forwarded to Council, 
and that the Mayor shared with the Post Dispatch Journalist, Tony Messenger.  Therefore, she 
would request that the censure of Councilmember Crow cease, and that the City's important 
business be conducted in these chambers for the sake of this City and its residents. 
 
Dennis Fuller, 7365 Colgate Avenue, University City, MO 
Mr. Fuller encouraged Council to remove this resolution.  He stated that if Council still feels 
the need to proceed, then they also have to justify why Councilmember Kraft was not 
disciplined or censured.    Mr. Fuller was concerned about the lack of leadership and stated 
that he would assist Councilmember Crow in litigating this City into bankruptcy.   
 
Andrew Roberts, 940 Alanson Drive, University City, MO 

10 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-10



Mr. Roberts stated that elected representatives usually take one of two approaches to any 
decision they make.  Sometimes they do what their constituents want, even if it is not what 
you want, and sometimes they do what they believe is right, even if it is not what their 
constituents want.   
     Mayor Welsch stated that personal attacks on City Council members, staff and anyone 
else, would be ruled out of order, and individuals engaging in those attacks will be disallowed 
from speaking at this or future Council meetings.  If he was unable to focus on the issue at-
hand; the resolution, she would ask that he please be seated. 
     Mr. Roberts stated that his belief is that this is a part of the issue and continued speaking.  
Mayor Welsch called him out of order.  He was escorted from the room. 
 
Steve McMahon,  8135 Stanford Avenue, University City, MO 
Mr. McMahon stated that every member of the City Council and the City Manager take an oath 
of office promising to faithfully discharge their duties with impartiality and justice.  Mr. 
McMahon recounted the following events: 

• Mr. Walker provides the Mayor with access to special counsel, without the consent of 
Council 

• The Mayor conceals the fact that no vote was taken on December 8, 2015  
• Catherine Grantham sends a letter to Mr. Walker, November 13, 2015, confirming her 

engagement, her review of Councilmember Crow's actions, and preparation of a Quo 
Warranto Petition.  (Mr. McMahon asked that Ms. Grantham's letter be attached to this 
record) 

• Mr. Walker signs the agreement, December 2015. 
     Mr. McMahon stated that Section 115.200 of the Code states that "Special counsel may be 
employed by the City Manager with the consent of Council, to perform any necessary legal 
services for the City, provided however, the City Manager, whenever he or she deems it 
necessary, or advisable, may employ special counsel to represent the City in matters in the 
city court or circuit court of the county on appeals from the City Court."  He asked if Ms. 
.Grantham was hired before Council approved it.  He asked if Ms. Grantham was hired before 
it was voted on.  
 
Joan Bray, 7166 Pershing Avenue, University City, MO 
Ms. Bray stated that the irony of all of this is that Mayor Welsch and the City Clerk have 
actually done the things they are accusing Councilmember Crow of, at least four times.  
However, the distinction the Mayor draws between herself and Terry Crow is that her actions 
were done unintentionally.   
 Ms. Bray stated that they have enacted their revenge by downgrading emergency medical 
services, endangering the vulnerable and the sick.  U Citians want rational, diverse and ethical 
members on their Council.   
 
Patricia McQueen, 1132 George Street, University City, MO 
Ms. McQueen expressed concerns about the timing of this action, the personal disruption it 
caused, the use of disclaimers and the risks associated with emailed communications.  She 
strongly encouraged Council to defeat this resolution and that Council move forward, 
concentrating their talents and resources on economic development of Olive Street Road, the 
3rd Ward and vacant properties.   
 
Linda Locke, 6925 Cornell, University City, MO 
Ms. Locke stated that in a democracy the promise is that every citizen will have a voice, and 
that government listens to those voices.  When people feel they are not being heard they 
become skeptical, then cynical, and ultimately lose faith and trust in their government.   
     Ms. Locke stated that she saw little transparency, or civility, or even engagement with 
Councilmember Crow.  It appeared elected officials are attempting to silence dissent and deny 

11 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-11



due process.  If Council wanted to build trust with the community, it would have open dialogue.  
In a democracy you talk, you debate, you share information, and then you decide openly.  Ms. 
Locke urged Council to vote against censuring Councilmember Crow and begin as a group 
considering how to rebuild trust and confidence that democracy is alive and well.   
 
Bart Stewart, 714 Harvard Avenue, University City, MO 
Mr. Stewart addressed the audience rather than the Council.  He gave an update on his 
petition drives and warned other members of Council the same petitions to remove them could 
also take place. 
 
Felix Simmons, 752 Radcliffe, University City, MO 
Mr. Simmons stated that even though he understands that there are two sides to every story 
and that you cannot please everyone, residents should be able to understand what is going on 
in their city.  He asked the people in the audience to get fired up about their rights as citizens, 
which the majority of this Council is trying to take away.   
 
Mayor Welsch asked Mr. Simmons to confine his comments to the issue at hand. 
 
Mr. Simmons stated that this was all related to the issue because Councilmember Crow is 
being unjustly railroaded by the people.  He continued his attack on several on the dais and 
Mayor Welsch called him out of order.   
 
Nancy Georgen, 7298 Greenway, University City, MO 
Ms. Georgen thanked each member of Council, as well as the City Manager, for their efforts to 
continually approve solid and realistic budgets.  She stated that while it is a matter of opinion 
as to whether Councilmember Crow is in violation, his email statement, "Does this help," is a 
real concern.  She thanked Councilmembers Glickert and Jennings for bringing this resolution, 
because she believed it was the right thing to do.  Ms. Georgen stated she hoped that 
regardless of how this issue is resolved, Council will put this behind them and move forward, 
continuing to make this a diverse, dynamic and progressive community.   
 
Council Comments 
Councilmember Carr questioned why Mr. Roberts was escorted out of chambers.  She stated 
it was only words and if Council's skin is not thick enough to handle that, they should not be up 
on this dais.   
     Councilmember Carr stated that the situation involving Councilmember Crow is a repeat of 
another incident that ripped the City apart, involving former Councilmember Byron Price.  She 
stated that when Ellisville was in the newspaper, she received a phone call from Mayor Adam 
Paul referencing Mayor Welch’s release of  two confidential documents.  He noted that both 
cities shared the same attorney and wondered why we were not impeaching our Mayor.  She 
said that is not done in U City.   
     Councilmember Carr stated that this email was not confidential.  With respect to his 
comment, "Does this help," her belief is that this situation is similar to someone calling to ask 
her when their trash was going to be picked up and after providing the information she would 
ask if this helps.  So these words, just like the Mayor's comment, "The deed is done," when 
she hired the City Manager, are being taken out of context.   
     Councilmember Carr stated that she is also being sued in her capacity, along with the City, 
so she needs to be careful, when explaining this situation, not to make any statements that 
would put her or the City at risk.  At the time, this litigation was two-fold; a sexual 
discrimination suit filed by an employee who was also a member of the Firemen Union and an 
alleged failure to negotiate in good faith.  Based on her understanding, the City had prevailed.  
Twenty days later, the firefighters took their campaign pictures, but they were not released 
until the end of March.  On the day of the election in April, the Mayor was passing out flyers 
which said that Mr. Walker was not going to fire the firefighters.  The firemen were not fired but 

12 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-12



rather suspended for 30 days.  This is the issue that came before the Civil Service Board, in 
which they ruled that the firefighters should be taken off of suspension and given back wages.  
It is this issue that has been brought forward by one current employee and five former 
employees that is in federal court today.  So she really does not know how anyone could have 
the crystal ball to know that answering the question about the City's compliance with the state 
law, could have been known in February, when the actions did not take place until the end of 
March, and the firefighters were not suspended until the end of April.  Councilmember Carr 
noted her experience was that she knew nothing about the Quo Warranto until the tenth, 
which included her name.  This was done just like the bond issue, EMS, the logo, and almost 
everything else, it was a midnight surprise.   

     Councilmember Carr stated that she asked this Council not to go down the path they went 
down with Mr. Price, because as it turns out, a few years later Council wanted to undo what 
they had done.  So while Council may think that they are going to put a black mark on 
Councilmember Crow, she thinks they are going to make a martyr out of him.   
 
Councilmember Jennings asked if he could call for the question.   
 
Councilmember Crow noted that the Mayor indicated that this audience was not representative 
of the community.  He stated that last month the Mayor distributed a Petition Quo Warranto to 
have him removed from office; one of the shoddiest documents he has ever seen.  
Councilmember Crow stated that while he could blame the attorney but she has clearly stated 
that she no longer represents anyone in this matter. He stated the Mayor has been the driver of 
this process and can only conclude that she provided the information.  Councilmember Crow 
then asked Mayor Welsch if she and Mr. Walker had provided the factual basis for the petition.  
Mayor Welsch stated that although she would not be interrogated while sitting on the dais, she 
would say that she did provide the attorney with a document that was provided to her in a 
deposition by the firefighter's attorney.  In response, Councilmember Crow stated that it was 
nice of the Mayor, after wanting to censure him and remove him from office, to not feel the 
need to stand up and answer any questions.   
     Councilmember Crow stated that the Mayor has gone out of her way, both in her newsletter 
and comments at the last Council meeting, to assure the public that, quote, "My first job is to do 
proper research into something I see as criminal".  He then asked the Mayor what steps she 
had taken to research and verify the information included in the petition to remove him from 
office? He stated that the statement in the petition, and the Mayor's comments made at the last 
meeting, are that "Councilmember Crow requested a legal opinion, and that the legal opinion 
was received by the City Manager".  However, he has never requested a legal opinion, nor did 
he ever receive a legal opinion.  Tonight's resolution only references a confidential memo, 
clearly, his attorney and members of the public have done a far better job of researching the 
facts than the Mayor has.   
     Councilmember Crow stated that the original petition also falsely alleged that he may have 
received monetary contributions from the Union.  He then asked the Mayor what basis she had 
for making that charge, and what research she had undertaken to determine any element of 
truth for the charge.  The most basic research would show that he never received any support 
from the firefighters, and that the Mayor is the only person who has.   
     Councilmember Crow stated that the Mayor has made much to do about the fact that there 
is ongoing litigation between the firefighters and the City.  Can anyone tell him what litigation 
was ongoing when he allegedly committed this violation of his oath of office?  The only litigation 
he is aware of is what was mentioned by Councilmember Carr, a sexual discrimination case 
and a failure to negotiate in good faith.   This resolution also states that he has harmed the 
interest of the City of U City.  He said this is a very serious and ethical charge.  One member of 
this Council needs to explain to him what harm he caused during the two month period 
between him sharing a memo and the City sharing the exact same memo.  Since Ms. Forster 
and Ms. Ormsby have clearly indicated to Mr. Greiman that they are not involved, he would 
also like to ask who wrote the resolution.    

13 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-13



     Councilmember Crow stated that it also seems as though whoever wrote this resolution 
believed that they acted with impartiality.  He said to a degree, impartiality implies to every 
member of this Council.  One member of this body stated, "We need to teach the Firefighters 
Union who runs this City," another member uses social media to discuss how the firefighters 
need to be cleaned up, investigated and taken to task.  Since almost all of the firefighters that 
were in the photo are gone, EMS has been outsourced EMS, and Council has managed to 
bring the Union and its employees to their knees, is tonight's resolution the last nail in the 
coffin?       
     Councilmember Crow stated that Council conducted their last meeting on December the 
14th, and within four days of that meeting the Mayor and Councilmember Jennings sent out a 
notice for a called special meeting of the Council, on December 21st, to discuss disciplinary 
action against him for sharing the legal opinion of City Attorney Forster, with a representative of 
the Firefighters Union 2665, thereby harming the interest of the City of U City.  When she was 
confronted with the fact that he was out of town, instead of letting it drop, she blamed him for 
not providing her with his personal travel schedule during the Christmas holiday.   
     Councilmember Crow stated that the Mayor has sold this Council a bill of goods that has 
forced them to back pedal.  So to Councilmembers Glickert and Sharpe, who he has sat next to 
for eight years, watching with humor, and sometimes with shock, how their colleagues sitting 
across the room have treated each other and shared meals together on multiple occasions, not 
one harsh word has ever been uttered amongst the three of us.  He believed that they know 
that he would never do anything to harm the interest of U City.    
     Councilmember Crow stated that he is pleased to be joined tonight by his law partner and 
her son.  He stated that they operate a two-person law firm, and that when you have a small 
firm the only thing you have to attract clients is your reputation.  He stated that Mayor Welsch 
has gone above and beyond to defame and libel his reputation as an attorney and public 
official, by disseminating false and malicious claims to every media outlet in the St. Louis area, 
with no regard for the consequences.     
     In conclusion, Councilmember Crow stated that he would like to reference the resolution 
that will be voted on in just a few minutes, and that he is sure will be used against him in his 
reelection campaign.  He stated that as pointed out by Mr. Greiman, "There has to be 
something more than the boilerplate disclaimer automatically added by Counsel's computer 
system to virtually every email Counsel sends, to make it confidential".  Based on that 
explanation, he would ask once again, what harm has he caused the City?  Councilmember 
Crow advised Council that he intends to retain all of his rights and options to determine the 
appropriate response to this petty, vindictive action against him. 
     On a personal note, he stated that last Saturday, his daughter asked him why Council 
wanted to remove him from office.  Councilmember Crow stated that he told her his side of the 
story, the facts as he knew them, and concluded by saying, that all she needed to keep in mind 
was that her father would never do anything to harm the City.  He has not violated his oath of 
office; has not acted in violation of the Municipal Code, has not harmed the interest of this City, 
and no member of this Council has provided any evidence to the contrary.   
 
Mayor Welsch urged members of the audience to be respectful and refrain from making verbal 
responses during Councilmember Kraft's comments. 
 
Councilmember Kraft stated that the members on this Council are not professional politicians, 
they are a group of seven volunteers that should be able to come together and work for the 
good of their City.  The City has some severely pressing issues, but instead Council has 
elected to continue a back and forth retaliation that has been a part of this body, and this City, 
for far too long.  He stated that although it is his opinion that Councilmember Crow committed 
an act that he, himself, would not do, which is based on his view of how he believes an 
elected official should deal with an organization with which they are negotiating a contract.  
That does not mean however, that his actions should result in a censure, because a censure 
accomplishes absolutely nothing.  Councilmember Kraft stated that his view is that this body 

14 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-14



has to trust their fellow Councilmembers to safeguard confidential documents, and a censure 
does not restore that trust.  Although he can certainly understand Council's inclination to 
retaliate in an ongoing atmosphere of nastiness and name calling, it's time to move on.  
Councilmember Kraft stated that the division in U City is not new, and every member of this 
Council has been the target of nasty and unfair accusations.  So everyone can keep telling 
their favorite story, or they can move on.  It was time to break the cycle and start working on 
finding real solutions, to real problems.  He stated that even though his motion to remove this 
resolution failed, his hope is that the Mayor and Council will show real leadership and 
withdraw the resolution.   
 
Mayor Welsch noted that aye meant support of the resolution and nay meant that you do not. 
 
Roll Call Vote: 
Ayes:  Councilmembers Glickert, Sharpe, Jennings and Mayor Welsch. 
Nays:  Councilmembers Crow, Carr and Kraft. 
 
BILLS 
      Introduced by Councilmember Sharpe 
3. BILL 9282 – An ordinance approving a final plat for a minor subdivision of a tract of land 

to be known as 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue Condominium, a survey and condominium 
plat of Lots B, C and east five feet of Lot D in Block 9 of Bellemoor Park amended 
subdivision.  Bill 9282 was read for the first time.   
 

N. CITIZEN PARTICIPATION (continued if needed) 
Gloria Nickerson, 7576 Blackberry, University City, MO 
Ms. Nickerson invited staff and residents of this City to the School District's 30th Anniversary 
Celebration of Dr. Martin Luther King.   
     Ms. Nickerson said she is a business owner in U City but noted that Council's actions has 
discouraged other businesses from locating to U City.  Ms. Nickerson stated that this is 2016, 
and no matter what the indifferences are, this City has got to start working together.  So as 
Council continues to talk about businesses in the Loop that are hurting, please remember that 
there are other small businesses in this City that are hurting too.   
 

O. COUNCIL REPORTS/BUSINESS 
1. Boards and Commission appointments needed 
 Mayor Welsch read the appointments that were needed. 
2. Council liaison reports on Boards and Commissions 
3. Boards, Commissions and Task Force minutes 
4. Other Discussions/Business 

 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Councilmember Carr stated that once again, Council's actions, are typical, however, she 
would like to talk about the upcoming election, because in the last four years she has 
experienced a limiting of her role as Council liaison.  She stated that initially she was 
appointed to three commissions, but friends of the Mayor who were on those commissions 
made sure to let her know that she would not be able to participate in any meaningful way.   
     Councilmember Carr stated in 2010, she made a request to speak at the Traffic 
Commission.  First, she was not granted permission because members of that Commission 
did not understand that as their liaison she was a non-voting member.  So she submitted a 
request to speak as a private citizen, wherein Ms. Wofsey recommended that she not be 
allowed to do so, based on the fact that she was a member of Council, the Council liaison, 
and should not be allowed to interfere in the work of the Commission.  (Councilmember Carr 
played a portion of the audio tape depicting Ms. Wofsey's comments into the record.)   
Councilmember Carr stated that since no ruling was ever made on Ms. Wofsey's 

15 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-15



recommendation, she was only granted permission to speak as the Council liaison.  But 
somehow after that meeting a decision was made that she had overstepped the bounds of her 
responsibilities, and received a call from Ms. Pumm, requesting that she turnover her personal 
audio tape.  Consultation with the City Attorney determined that the audio was akin to 
someone taking notes on a yellow pad; that it was not the City's business record, and 
therefore, she would not be required to turn it over.  
     Councilmember Carr stated that it has now come to her attention that Ms. Wofsey has 
accused her of screaming at her during the meeting.  Councilmember Carr stated that she has 
decided to release the audio tape, and would provide a link for downloading it, upon request.    
She stated that her motivation is to make sure that anyone who hears this story has the ability 
to listen to the audio and know for a fact, that the manner in which she is being portrayed is 
absolutely false.   
 
Mayor Welsch stated that she would like to recognize and give her condolence, to the family 
of Brian Fletcher, the former Mayor, and current member of City Council for Ferguson, 
Missouri.  Mr. Fletcher was very active in the "I Love Ferguson" movement and did much to 
rebuild the City's pride.   

• The Martin Luther King Celebration sponsored by the School District will be a three day 
event, beginning on January 15th.  Details can be found on the District's website. 

 
 

Q. ADJOURNMENT 
Mayor Shelley Welsch adjourned the meeting at 9:36 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Joyce Pumm 
City Clerk, MRCC/CMC 
 

16 
 

January 25, 2016 E-1-16



January 25, 2016 E-1-17



January 25, 2016 E-1-18



January 25, 2016 E-1-19



January 25, 2016 E-1-20



January 25, 2016 E-1-21



January 25, 2016 E-1-22



January 25, 2016 E-1-23



January 25, 2016 E-1-24



January 25, 2016 E-1-25



January 25, 2016 E-1-26



January 25, 2016 E-1-27



January 25, 2016 E-1-28



January 25, 2016 E-1-29



January 25, 2016 E-1-30



January 25, 2016 E-1-31



January 25, 2016 E-1-32



January 25, 2016 E-1-33



January 25, 2016 E-1-34



January 25, 2016 E-1-35



January 25, 2016 E-1-36



January 25, 2016 E-1-37



January 25, 2016 E-1-38



January 25, 2016 E-1-39



January 25, 2016 E-1-40



January 25, 2016 E-1-41



January 25, 2016 E-1-42



January 25, 2016 E-1-43



January 25, 2016 E-1-44



January 25, 2016 E-1-45



January 25, 2016 E-1-46



January 25, 2016 E-1-47



January 25, 2016 E-1-48



January 25, 2016 E-1-49



January 25, 2016 E-1-50



January 25, 2016 E-1-51



January 25, 2016 E-1-52



January 25, 2016 E-1-53



January 25, 2016 E-1-54



Council Agenda Item Cover 

MEETING DATE: January 25, 2016 

AGENDA ITEM TITLE: Ordinance to approve a Final Plat for a proposed Minor 
Subdivision at 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue to subdivide a 
two-family dwelling into two condominium units in the “SR” – 
Single Family Residential District 

AGENDA SECTION: Unfinished Business 

COUNCIL ACTION: Passage of Ordinance required for Approval 

CAN THIS ITEM BE RESCHEDULED? : Yes 

BACKGROUND REVIEW: Attached are the Staff Report and documents for the above-
referenced Minor Subdivision application. 

The Plan Commission recommended approval at their December 23, 2015 meeting.  
Passage of an ordinance is needed to approve the Final Plat.  A public hearing is not 
required.  The first reading should take place on January 11, 2016 and the second and 
third readings could occur at the subsequent meeting on January 25, 2016. 

Attachments: 
1: Transmittal Letter from Plan Commission 
2: Staff Report and Final Plat 
3. Draft Ordinance and Exhibits

RECOMMENDATION: Approval 

January 25, 2016 L-1-1



ATTACHMENT 1: 
Transmittal letter from Plan Commission 

January 25, 2016 L-1-2



  

 
 
 
Plan Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

 

 
December 29, 2015 
 
 
 
 
Ms. Joyce Pumm, City Clerk 
City of University City 
6801 Delmar Boulevard 
University City, MO 63130 
 
RE: Minor Subdivision – Final Plat 

6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue 
 
Dear Ms. Pumm, 
 
At its regular meeting on December 23, 2015 at 6:30 pm in the Heman Park Community 
Center, 975 Pennsylvania Avenue, the Plan Commission considered an application by 
Charles Coyle (property owner) for Final Plat approval of a Minor Subdivision, 
subdividing a two-family dwelling into two condominium units in the “SR” – Single 
Family Residential District. 
 
By a vote of 5 to 0, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Final Plat. 
 

 
Linda Locke, Chairperson 
University City Plan Commission 

January 25, 2016 L-1-3



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 2: 
Staff Report and Final Plat 

January 25, 2016 L-1-4



Page 1 of 2 

  

 
 
 
Department of Community Development 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 862-3168   
 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 
 
MEETING DATE:   December 23, 2015 
 
FILE NUMBER:   PC 15-08 
 
COUNCIL DISTRICT:  3 
 
Applicant: Charles Coyle (property owner) 
 
Location: 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue (north side of Plymouth 

Avenue, approximately 100 feet west of Kingsland Avenue) 
 
Request: Minor Subdivision – Final Plat to subdivide existing two-

family dwelling into two condominium units 
 
Existing Zoning:   “SR” – Single Family Residential District 
Existing Land Use:   Two-family residential building 
Proposed Zoning:   No change – “SR” District 
Proposed Land Use: No change – two-family residential building 
 
Surrounding Zoning and Land Use: 
North: SR- Single Family Residential District Single-family residential 
East: SR- Single Family Residential District Single-family residential 
South: SR-Single Family Residential District Single-family / multi-family residential 
West: SR- Single Family Residential District Single-family / multi-family residential 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONFORMANCE 
[ x ] Yes [  ] No  [  ] No reference 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
[ x ] Approval  [  ] Denial 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A. Map 
B. Final Plat 
 
Existing Property 
The subject property, approximately 0.24 acres in area, is occupied by a vacant two-story, 
two-family dwelling built in 1914, according to St. Louis County records.  The existing units 
are each approximately 1,600 square feet in area and have separate basements.  There are 
two curb-cuts onto Plymouth Avenue providing vehicular access with parking at the rear of 
the building.  The existing use is legal non-conforming since it was established prior to 

January 25, 2016 L-1-5



Page 2 of 2 

enactment of the current “SR” – Single Family Residential District zoning which does not 
permit two-family dwellings.  As such, it is allowed to continue, subject to certain restrictions 
in the Zoning Code including no building expansion. 
 
Applicant’s Request 
The current request is to subdivide the existing two-family dwelling into two individual 
condominium units.  No changes to the property or modifications to the building are 
proposed.  This is just a change in the form of ownership which will result in two separate 
properties with common areas as shown on the Final Plat. 
 
Analysis 
Creation of a condominium form of ownership is considered a Subdivision; however, this is 
being reviewed as a Minor Subdivision because the proposal does not meet any of the 
characteristics of a Major Subdivision as described in Section 405.165.A of the Subdivision 
Regulations.  It is therefore not required to go through the Preliminary Plan process but the 
Final Plat process.  No public hearing is required.  On review, staff has determined that the 
request is in compliance with the requirements of the Zoning Code and Subdivision 
Regulations.  The proposed action does not change the legal non-conforming status of the 
property. 
 
Conclusion/Recommendation 
The proposal meets all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation requirements for a Final 
Plat.  Thus, staff recommends approval of the Final Plat for the proposed Minor Subdivision. 

January 25, 2016 L-1-6



JULIAN AVE

BELRUE AVE

KINGSLAND AVEPLYMOUTH AVE

AVALON AVE

URSULA AVE

JULIAN AVE

PLYMOUTH AVE

0 100 20050
Feet N

6709-6711 Plymouth
and surrounding area

6709 -
6711

Legend
Subject Property
Municipal Boundary
Parcel Boundary

Prepared by: University City Dept. of Community
Development Staff - December, 2015; Data Source:
St. Louis County Department of Revenue,
GIS Datasets 2015; Aerial Imagery - 2010

Single  Family  Residential

ATTACHMENT "A"

Z O N I N G:   S R

Z O N I N G:   S R

Single  Family  Residential

Z O N I N G:   S R
Z O N I N G:   S R

Single  Family  Residential

4-Family
Residential

4-Family
Residential

Single  Family  Residential

January 25, 2016 L-1-7



January 25, 2016 L-1-8

zgreatens
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT "B"



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 3: 
Draft Ordinance and Exhibits 

January 25, 2016 L-1-9



INTRODUCED BY: __________ DATE:   January 11, 2016 

 
BILL NO.   9282 ORDINANCE NO.__________ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL PLAT FOR A MINOR 
SUBDIVISION OF A TRACT OF LAND TO BE KNOWN AS 6709-6711 
PLYMOUTH AVENUE CONDOMINIUM, A SURVEY AND 
CONDOMINIUM PLAT OF LOTS B, C, AND EAST FIVE FEET OF LOT D 
IN BLOCK 9 OF BELLEMOOR PARK AMENDED SUBDIVISION. 

 
WHEREAS, on November 25, 2015, Charles Coyle, property owner, submitted for 

approval a final subdivision plat of a tract of land to be known as 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue 
Condominium, a Survey and Condominium Plat of Lots B, C, and east five feet of Lot D in 
Block 9 of Bellemoor Park Amended Subdivision, University City, Missouri; and 
 

WHEREAS, at its meeting on December 23, 2015, the University City Plan Commission 
reviewed the final plat for the minor subdivision, determined that the final plat is in full 
compliance with the requirements of the University City Municipal Code, and recommended to 
the City Council of University City approval of the final plat; and 
 

WHEREAS, the final plat for the minor subdivision application, including all required 
documents and information submitted therewith, is before the City Council for its consideration; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY CITY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Attached, marked Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof is a final 
subdivision plat of a tract of land to be known as 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue Condominium, a 
Survey and Condominium Plat of Lots B, C, and east five feet of Lot D in Block 9 of Bellemoor 
Park Amended Subdivision, located at 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue, University City, St. Louis 
County, Missouri.  The final plat for the minor subdivision subdivides the two-family dwelling, 
thereby converting it into two condominium units, zoned “SR” – Single Family Residential 
District. 

 
Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that the final plat for the minor 

subdivision is in full compliance with the University City Municipal Code, including Section 
405.390 thereof.  Accordingly, the final plat for the minor subdivision marked Exhibit “A” is 
hereby approved. 

 
Section 3. The City Clerk is hereby directed to endorse upon the final plat for the 

minor subdivision the approval of the City Council under the hand of the City Clerk and the seal 
of University City. 

 
Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage 

as provided by law. 
 
 

January 25, 2016 L-1-10



 
PASSED this __________ day of ____________________, __________. 
 
 
 
 

 ______________________________ 
 MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
 CITY CLERK 
 
 
CERTIFIED TO BE CORRECT AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
 CITY ATTORNEY  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 25, 2016 L-1-11



EXHIBIT “A” 

 
January 25, 2016 L-1-12



    
Green Practices Commission 

6801     Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 862-6767, Fax: (314) 863-9146   
 

 
Meeting Minutes – University City Green Practices Commission 
 
November 12, 2015 

 
Location:  Heman Park Community Center 
Attendees Present: Lois Sechrist, Dianne Benjamin, Tim Michels, Jeff Mishkin, Steve Kraft (Council 

Liaison), Jenny Wendt (Staff Liaison) 
 
Absent Excused: Richard Juang, Scott Eidson 
Guests:  Mayor Shelley Welsch 
 Rich Wilson 
 Jana Flora (Resident) 
 

1. Meeting called to Order, Roll Call at 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. Opening Round 
a) Tim learned about a quasi-pyrolysis process which generates hydrogen gas. 
b) Lois reported that there is a planning/zoning educational hearing on Tuesday, November 17th.  

 
3. Approval of Minutes  

a) September meeting minutes were approved with two amendments  
 

4. Special Presentations 
a) No special presentations.  

 
5. New Business 

a) Municipal Solid Waste to Fuel - Material Lifecycle Management Company (MLMC) – Jenny 
discussed possibly working with MLMC for recycling plastic film and other non-recyclable 
materials.  Plastic film is to be added as a material at the recycling center. 
 

b) Sebright Products Waste to Energy System - Sebright Products. Inc. has teamed up with Tom 
Dunne (formerly with Waste Management) proposing creating a plant in St. Louis which takes 
solid waste and converts it to Diesel fuel.  Jenny will request that a Sebright Products 
representative and Tom Dunne will be requested to speak to the Green Practices Commission 
at a future meeting. 

 
c) EPA Green Power Community Challenge – The City would purchase Renewable Energy 

Certificates (RECs) from Pure Power, or any other REC provider (must be Green-e certified 
RECs) and install onsite solar power, from Microgrid Solar or any other solar installer. Based on 
a calculation of total energy used, the City would have a required number to achieve.  The 
Commission overwhelmingly felt that this was not a good program for the City to be involved, 
Tim suggested rather than paying for RECs, the City could put money into a fund for projects to 
generate its own renewable energy.  

 
d) 25x20 Energy Benchmarking Campaign – This is a challenge to determine how much energy a 

building consumes, aiming for a 25% reduction in building energy consumption by the year 
2020.  The City would need to collect utility bill cost and usage for a year; better yet from 2011 
when we had a greenhouse gas inventory completed.  A summer intern would be needed to get 
this done.  This would be congruent with the ICLEI Compact of Mayors. Jenny will propose this 
to the Public Works and Parks director. 

January 25, 2016 O3-1-1



 
6. Old Business 

a) State Loan Update – HVAC in City Hall is in the design process.  Several lighting projects have 
been completed and several still need to be done.  Pool pump replacement is out to bid. 

b) Compact of Mayors – The GPC endorses the mayor’s request to join the ICLEI compact of 
mayors. 

c) Green Cities Challenge Update – This item is tabled. 
 

7. Reports 
a) Ecosystems/ Habitat 

i. Dianne indicated that the butterfly garden, planted by Monarch Waystaion Citizen 
Volunteer Corps, one of the University City Volunteer Corps founded/led by Mayor 
Shelley Welsch at Midland and Vernon was recognized by the North American 
Butterfly Association. Mayor Slay was the first mayor to sign the “Mayor’s Monarch 
pledge”; this is something the City should consider. 
 

ii. Linda Fried, with the Monarch Waystation Citizen Volunteer Corps, will set up a blue 
collection box at Centennial Commons for people to fill with non-shiny newspaper to 
be used to prepare gardens for planting monarch friendly plants.  The newspaper is 
used instead of chemical weed killer.   

 
b) Water/Stormwater – No report. 
c) Air Quality/Transportation – No report. 
d) Waste and Resource Conservation – No report. 

 
8. Closing Round 

a) Lois reminded everyone of America Recycles Day on November 15. 
b) Steve Kraft would like GPC to present at council.   

i. The City should have a say in what U City in bloom plants and possibly plant more 
natives.  Can the City create a policy on this?  This could be coordinated with the 
Parks Department. 
 

ii. Steve also asked if the Joyce has a waiting list for the GPC. 
 

9. Meeting adjourned at 7:40pm 

January 25, 2016 O3-1-2

jwendt
Highlight



URBAN FORESTRY COMMISSION MEETING 
November 9, 2015 

 
Members Present: Mark Wallace, Mary Harvey James Crowe, Tom Sontag, Beth Skelton, Irv Logan, 
Barbara Chicherio, Theo Smith. 
 
Meeting called to order at 7:00 pm by President Beth Skelton. 
 
Minutes were read from Sept 9; Tom motioned to accept, Mark second, motion passed. 

    
Council Liaison Update: There was no update Paulette Carr was absent due to a city council meeting 

 
Monthly Forestry Reports: After review Irv motioned for approval, Tom second, motion passed. 
 
Citizen Hearing:   A) Joe Edwards Ackert Walk: Mr. Edwards, representing the Loop Special 
Business District, requested the removal of five female Ginkgo trees from Ackert Walk due to the 
disgusting odor of the seeds. The concern of the businesses, as cited by Mr. Edwards, was that the 
odoriferous seed pods were dragged into the stores on the shoes of customers.  James described the 
history of the plantings, the Parks Department has offered to increase the sweeping of the area during 
the 2 months the trees are dropping seeds.  After discussion the commission voted to accept the city 
proposal for more sweeping and requested Mr. Edwards report back if this remedy is not adequate. 
   B) Barry Zeffren- 8150 Amherst:  Mr. Zeffren had requested the removal of two 
Linden street trees in front of his property.  James inspected the two trees and determined them to be 
in good condition only in need of trimming.  Mr. Zeffren appealed the decision on the grounds that his 
lawn is predominantly zoysia and is depreciating due to the shade from the Linden trees.  He also 
described the roots of the trees as a trip hazard.  Commission members observed the trees before the 
meeting and after discussion the commission voted to accept the city recommendation to trim the trees.  
Various members offered Mr. Zeffren alternatives to zoysia turf and he agreed to investigate the 
substitutes.  
Old Business: 
 

A) Tree City US A signs: Beth is working with the Park Foundation to procure extra signs using 
their funds.  She will be meeting with them on November 18th. 

 
B) Arbor Day 2016: The commission agreed to the tentative date of April 29, 2016 for the Arbor 

Day tree planting in Majerius Park.  It was also agreed to 10 to 15 trees to be planted by 
volunteers.  Barb and Mary will work together to advertise and coordinate the volunteers. 

New Business: 
A)  Parkview Gardens tree plantings: Parkview Gardens Association has purchase 40 trees to be 

planted by their contractor along city right of way in Parkview Gardens.  The project was 
coordinated with James and has the city’s approval. 

B) Gannondale Tree Project: Nancy Baglan, Linda Fried, and Beth have distributed flyers in the 
Gannondale neighborhood describing the city’s offer of new tree plantings this winter and spring.  
So far four addresses have requested new trees. 

C) Delmar Blvd. Tree Project:  At the request of Mayor Welsch, Nancy Baglan and Beth surveyed the 
street trees and determined available planting spaces. Using this survey, Mayor Welsch will be 
requesting planting of street trees along Delmar Blvd. from the St. Louis County Council. 
 

Update of Development Projects:  none 
 

 
Citizens’ comments: None 

 
 Tom motioned for adjournment, Mark second, meeting adjourned at 8:30pm 
 
 
 Submitted by James Crowe 

January 25, 2016 O3-2-1



 

Page 1 of 3 

Board of Adjustment 

November 16, 2015 Meeting Minutes 

 

A Board of Adjustment meeting was held on Monday November 16, 2015 at the Heman Park 

Community Center located at 975 Pennsylvania Ave., University City, Missouri. The meeting 

commenced at 6:30 pm. 

 

Members Present    Members Absent (excused) 

John Solodar, Chairperson   Deborah Arbogast, Vice-Chairperson 

Peggy Holly     Kathy Straatmann 

Roger McFarland 

Charles Marentette, Alternate 

Denise Anderson, Alternate 

 

Non-Voting Members Present 
Rod Jennings, Council Liaison 

 

Staff Present 

Zach Greatens, Planner 

 

1. Approval of Minutes 

 

The minutes from the January 20, 2015 Board of Adjustment meeting were approved. 

 

2. Case # BOA 15-02 – 512 Mapleview Drive 

 

Mr. Ben Ellerman with Blaes Architects, on behalf of STL Homebuyers, LLC, property 

owner, requested a variance to construct a covered front porch for the existing single family 

dwelling with a porch roof projecting 9.9 feet into the front yard setback, exceeding the 

maximum allowable roof projection of four (4) feet by 5.9 feet as required by Section 

400.1040 of the Zoning Code for the residential lot in the “SR” – Single Family Residential 

District. 

 

Mr. Ellerman explained the proposal and noted that the porch itself was proposed to extend 

eight (8) feet from the dwelling and the roof overhang was proposed to project 9.9 feet into the 

setback.  An option to build the terrace portion only had already been submitted for building 

permit approval.  The terrace portion was allowed to be built as proposed.  The terrace would 

be constructed whether the current variance request was approved or not.  He stated that the 

Zoning Code allowed only a four (4) foot overhang for the porch roof which did not allow for 

enough space for a future buyer to make suitable use of the front porch.  He added that the 

property had a platted 35-foot front yard setback which superseded the Zoning Code 

requirement for 25 feet and further restricted the property. 

 

Mr. Greatens confirmed Mr. Ellerman’s explanation of what was allowed in the Zoning Code 

for the front porch. 

 

Public Comments 

 

January 25, 2016 O3-3-1



 

Page 2 of 3 

Bruce Crowe – 508 Mapleview Drive (property to the south of 512 Mapleview).  Mr. Crowe 

stated that he liked the design of the project and had no issue with the proposed terrace.  He 

was concerned that a roof over the porch would cut down the view from the front of his house 

and the amount of light he gets. 

 

Cathy McKay – 507 Mapleview Drive (property across the street from 512 Mapleview).  Ms. 

McKay stated that front porches improve neighborhoods and neighborhood relationships.  She 

supported the proposal and stated it would improve the neighborhood. 

 

Nancy Sachar – 8044 Lafon Place.  Ms. Sachar stated she opposed the proposed variance but 

was in favor of the proposed renovation.  Her concern was regarding the effect that water 

runoff would have on her property. 

 

Mr. Ellerman stated that the proposed renovation would not result in increased runoff. 

 

Board members discussed the proposal and asked if the current property owner intended to 

live in the house after the renovation was completed and if the proposed porch roof would add 

value to the property.  Board members also asked about the function of the proposed deck on 

the rear of the house, facing the back yard and Old Bonhomme Road.  Mr. Ellerman stated 

that the current property owner did not intend to live in the house upon completion of the 

renovation.  He stated that the proposed porch roof would not add significant value to the 

property.  He stated that the rear deck would serve as a barbeque area and that no other 

properties had rear decks because Old Bonhomme Road is a busy street. 

 

The variance was denied by a vote of 5 (opposed) to 0 (in favor). 

 

Board members stated that the request did not arise for a condition that was unique to the 

property as it was similar to many other properties in University City.  It was also noted that 

among both newly constructed dwellings and older dwellings, many had front porches that 

were in conformance with the setbacks. 

 

3. Case # BOA 15-03 – 7333 Princeton Avenue 

 

Mr. Frank Carpenter with Coach House Garages, on behalf of A.J. and Michelle Harris, 

property owners, requested a variance to construct a detached garage maintaining a side yard 

setback of two (2) feet in lieu of five (5) feet as required by Section 400.160.B of the Zoning 

Code for the residential lot in the “SR” – Single Family Residential District. 

 

Mr. Carpenter explained the proposal and stated that the location of the dwelling on the 

property did not allow for enough room for a vehicle to be able to make the turn to access a 

detached garage if it was constructed to meet the required side yard setback of five feet. 

 

Mr. Greatens stated that the depth of lots in this area was less than most residential lots in 

University City. 

 

Public Comments 

 

January 25, 2016 O3-3-2



 

Page 3 of 3 

Julie Waxenberg – 7353 Princeton Avenue.  Ms. Waxenberg stated that garages were a 

necessity in St. Louis and that maintenance should not be an issue if a property owner asks 

their neighbors to allow access. 

 

Board members stated that a hardship had been demonstrated and the situation was unique to 

the property in question.  Board members also discussed the amount of overhang for the 

proposed gable roof.  The applicant stated that for previous projects he had built a reverse 

gable, in which the sloped side of the roof faces forward rather than the gabled side.  This 

would allow for only eight (8) inches of overhang rather than thirteen (13) inches as shown on 

the drawings. 

 

The variance request was approved by a vote of five (5) to zero (0) with the condition that the 

minimum setback shall be two (2) feet with a maximum roof overhang of eight (8) inches. 

 

4. Adjournment 

 

The meeting adjourned at 7:40 p.m. 

 

January 25, 2016 O3-3-3



Park Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8560, Fax: (314) 862-0694 

Park Commission Meeting – November 19, 2015 Page 1 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE PARK COMMISSION 
Centennial Commons, 7210 Olive Blvd.  

Wednesday, January, 13, 2016 
 

President Ed Mass called the meeting to order at 6:33 pm.  Members present were:  
 
William Field     Megan Fuhler, Park Commission Liaison 
Nancy McClain    Lynda Euell-Taylor, Deputy Director of Recreation  
Steven Goldstein    Ewald Winker, Park Operations Superintendent 
Kimberly Jones    Stephen Kraft, City Council Liaison 
 
Excused Absence: Kathy Standley 
Unexcused Absence: Luther Baker 
 
Deposition of Minutes from November 19, 2015 
Mr. Goldstein moved to approve the minutes of the November 19, 2015 Park Commission meeting 
with no changes, Ms. Jones seconded – vote taken, all approved. 
 
Deposition of Minutes from December 9, 2015 
Mr. Goldstein moved to approve the minutes of the December 9, 2015 Park Commission meeting 
with no changes, Ms. McClain seconded – vote taken, all approved. 
 
Citizens’ Comments 
Lisa Lazier, 668 Vassar, spoke about the homes that back up to the north side of Lewis Park and 
the water issues occurring after heavy rainfalls. Ms. Lazier presented several videos after the rain 
fall in early January 2016. She asked if there was any way to provide a backup location for water 
storage during these types of events. Mr. Mass asked Mr. Alpaslan to look in to this matter.  
 
Ruth Park Driving Range Improvements 
Mr. Noel Fehr, Planning Design Studio, described the design to date. Ms. Fuhler indicated staff 
recommended the removal of all lighting at the Driving Range. She stated staff analyzed the 
average sunset times throughout the year, the temperature based limits, and revised lighting hours. 
Based on the analysis, the City would add an estimated $8,000 to the annual net income of the 
driving range as compared to operating the facility without lights. With a $140,000 initial investment, 
the payback period would be over 10 years. She then indicated City staff would appreciate a 
recommendation from the Park Commission in regards to the lights. Mr. Goldstein asked if the City 
would be revisiting the settlement agreement with the removal of the lighting. He indicated it 
seemed to him that the removal of the lights might allow for renegotiation of the berm. Ms. Fuhler 
indicated staff had asked the question, but had yet to receive a response. Mr. Goldstein then asked 
if City staff had looked in to the cost for installing a prefabricated restroom. Mr. Winker stated that 
the cost is approximately $120,000, plus any necessary costs for installing utilities. 
 
Mr. Goldstein moved to recommend the City revisit the settlement agreement indicating the City will 
remove the driving range lighting in return for the elimination of the berm, but that landscaping would 
remain. In addition, the Park Commission would hope that staff would recommend the installation of a 
restroom facility where the ball dispenser is or where the pump house is located. The motion was 
seconded by Ms. Jones. Additional discussion occurred.  
 
After discussion, Mr. Goldstein moved to revise his motion to remove the portion regarding restrooms. 
The new motion is to recommend the City revisit the settlement agreement indicating that the City will 

O3-4-1



Park Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8560, Fax: (314) 862-0694 

Park Commission Meeting – November 19, 2015 Page 2 

 

 

remove the driving range lighting in return for the elimination of the berm, but that landscaping would 
remain. The motion is seconded by Ms. Jones. Vote taken, all approved. 
 
Mr. Fehr then finished his presentation on the driving range design plans. 
 
Department Reports 
Public Works and Parks Operations – Mr. Winker discussed projects he and his crews have been 
working on this past month: 
      Parks Crews 

• Completed the final week of Holiday tree curbside pickup 
• Will resume stump grinding operations next week 
• Grounds cleanup of leaves, gumballs, etc. when conditions allow 
• Beginning honeysuckle removal along the creek bank in Heman along Vernon Avenue 
Forestry Crews 
• Continue hazard tree removals and pruning 
• Fall/Winter tree planting completed 
Golf Crews 
• Performing Equipment Maintenance and no mow area cleanup 
• Operations budget proposal 

  
Public Works and Parks Projects – Ms. Fuhler indicated the project updates were included in the 
agenda packet and asked if there were any questions. Ms. Fuhler provided one update to the Millar 
Park Trail project, in that the concrete pads for the fitness station would be installed tomorrow. 
 
Community Development/Recreation Division – Ms. Euell-Taylor reported: 

• SilverSneakers program update:  As of 12.31.15, 677 active seniors have obtained free 
Centennial Commons memberships and made 10,481 visits to Centennial Commons and 
Heman Pool during 2015.   

• Three (3) fitness programs are being introduced in 2016:  Saturday Zumba, Total Body and 
Tone and Tai Chi Fundamental 

• On Monday, January 4, 2016, Centennial Commons began new weekday hours:  5:30 am – 
9:00 pm 

• Watch for information on our 3rd Annual Centennial Commons Celebrates Go Red for 
Women – scheduled for Friday, February 5th. 

• At the February Park Commission meeting, staff will be presenting proposed fee increases 
for recreation programs; which will also include expansion of Centennial Commons 
membership rates to include facilities (i.e. athletic fields, room rentals, picnic pavilions, etc.) 
and Ruth Park Golf Course fee rates. 

 
Council Liaison Report 
Councilmember Kraft did not have anything to bring to the Commissions attention.  
 
Individual Park Reports 

• Ms. Standley stated all was good in her parks. 
• Ms. McClain stated that her parks are fine. 
• Ms. Jones indicated she did not have anything to report. 
• Mr. Field had nothing to report. 
• Mr. Goldstein had nothing of substance for the meeting. He had sent his concern directly to Mr. 

Winker earlier. Mr. Winker indicated that he appreciated that.  

O3-4-2



Park Commission 
6801 Delmar Boulevard, University City, Missouri 63130, Phone: (314) 505-8560, Fax: (314) 862-0694 

Park Commission Meeting – November 19, 2015 Page 3 

 

 

• Mr. Mass had nothing regarding the condition of his parks. He did indicate that he had provided 
City staff with 5-6 suggestions for the use of the message signs in Lewis Park. Staff will be 
bringing a policy for review after it is drafted.  

 
Old Business 
Standardization of Park Signs: Mr. Goldstein moved to standardize the wooden signs in parks, Ms. 
McClain seconded – vote taken, all approved.  
 
Subcommittee Reports 

• Ruth Park Golf Course – Nothing to Report. 
 

New Business 
Discussion of Testimony from Suzanne Greenwald regarding the Parks and Recreation Policy:  After a 
brief discussion of the testimony, Councilmember Kraft stated the general consensus from City 
Council was to remove section E, but Council agreed this should be discussed at the Park 
Commission. Mr. Mass indicated this section could be amended instead of removed, but also wanted 
to review the rest of the concerns from Ms. Greenwald. Mr. Mass suggested the day camps section be 
revised to 50%. A lot of discussion followed regarding the Program & Service Cost Allocation section 
of the Management Policies and Procedures.  
 
Mr. Mass moved to recommend the elimination of section E from the Management Policies and 
Procedures, Mr. Goldstein seconded – vote taken, all approved. 
 
Mr. Mass moved to recommend the removal of the words “indirect and overhead costs” from all sub 
items of the Program & Service Cost Allocations section, Mr. Field seconded. Discussion occurred. 
Vote taken, all approved. 
 
The Commission then asked staff to gather information specifically regarding day camp so that the 
percentage can be further reviewed.  
 
Other Business 
None 
 
Adjournment  
Mr. Goldstein moved to adjourn, Ms. McClain seconded – vote taken, all approved.  The meeting 
ended at 9:25 pm.  

O3-4-3



 

Page 1 of 2 

Plan Commission 

December 23, 2015 Meeting Minutes 
 

The Plan Commission held their regular meeting at the Heman Park Community Center located at 975 

Pennsylvania Avenue, University City, Missouri on Wednesday, December 23, 2015.  The meeting 

commenced at 6:30 pm. 
 

1. Roll Call 
 

Voting Members Present   Voting Members Absent (excused) 

Linda Locke (Chairperson)   Andrew Ruben 

Cirri Moran (Vice-Chairperson)  Michael Miller 

Rick Salamon 

Rosalind Williams 

Samuel Jones 
 

Non-Voting Council Liaison Present 
Michael Glickert 
 

Staff Present 

Andrea Riganti, Director of Community Development 

Ray Lai, Deputy Director of Community Development 

Zach Greatens, Planner 
 

2. Approval of Minutes 
 

2.a. October 28, 2015 Plan Commission meeting 
 

Ms. Moran stated that at the October 28 Plan Commission meeting she brought up that she did not 

think the property had been continually used for parking, but the minutes only referenced Plan 

Commission members discussing that it had been used for parking.  Ms. Moran made a motion to 

revise the October 28, 2015 Plan Commission meeting minutes on page 3 in the first bullet-point 

under questions, comments, and discussion to state that the use of the property for parking was 

discussed, rather than only stating that it had been used for parking.  The motion was seconded by 

Mr. Salamon and carried unanimously.  Ms. Moran made a motion to approve the October 28, 2015 

Plan Commission meeting minutes as amended.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Salamon and 

carried unanimously. 
 

3. Public Hearings – None 
 

4. Hearings – None 
 

5. Old Business – None 
 

6. New Business 
 

6.a. Minor Subdivision – Final Plat – PC 15-08 – Subdivide existing two-family dwelling into two 

condominium units at 6709-6711 Plymouth Avenue in the “SR” – Single Family Residential District 
 

Mr. Greatens explained the proposal and provided background information.  The request was to 

convert the existing two-family dwelling into two condominium units.  He stated that the proposal 

was in compliance with all Zoning Code and Subdivision Regulation requirements and staff 

recommended approval. 
 

Ms. Kelly Harris, 4234 Norfolk Avenue, St. Louis, MO 63110, presented the proposal on behalf of 

the applicant, Mr. Charles Coyle, property owner.  She stated that the building was recently 

January 25, 2016 O3-5-1



 

Page 2 of 2 

renovated and both units have four bedrooms and three bathrooms.  The proposal would encourage 

home ownership rather than more rental units.  The building is currently unoccupied. 
 

A motion was made by Ms. Williams to approve the Final Plat.  The motion was seconded by Mr. 

Salamon and carried unanimously. 
 

7. Other Business 
 

7.a. Public Comments 
 

Mr. Mark Harvey, 761 Harvard Avenue – University Heights Subdivision Trustee, addressed the 

Plan Commission members about the property located at 601 Trinity Avenue.  He provided his oral 

statement in writing to the Plan Commission and showed a Power Point presentation, both of which 

are attached.  He requested that the decision to allow a commercial parking lot on the property be 

brought before the Plan Commission at a future meeting. 
 

Questions, Comments and Discussion 
 

- There was discussion among Plan Commission members that this issue was not a Plan 

Commission decision but would likely be up to the courts.  Plan Commission members stated 

they were an advisory board and that University Heights has its own indentures, so it would be 

best for the courts to decide, which could depend on how the property is addressed in the 

subdivision indentures. 
 

8. Reports 
 

8.a. Code Review Committee Report – None 
 

8.b. Comprehensive Plan Committee Report 
 

Ms. Moran stated that the Comprehensive Plan Advisory Committee (CPAC) had two meetings 

recently to review draft chapters of the Comprehensive Plan Update.  Further decisions would not be 

made until feedback was received from the consultants.  Staff was coordinating further 

communication with the consultants. 
 

8.c. Council Liaison Report 
 

Mr. Glickert stated that the previous agenda item at tonight’s meeting, the condominiums, were the 

first condos north of Olive and it was a step in the right direction to increase ownership in that area.  

Kingsland Avenue has had more pedestrian activity than ever before and this area was slowly 

evolving.  St. Louis Bread Company was set to move out of their Delmar Loop location on 

December 24. 
 

8.d. Department Report 
 

Ms. Riganti stated that the recent Zoning Text Amendment regarding landscaping requirements was 

approved by City Council.  She added that there had been two public workshops on the police 

facility improvements and a summary would be distributed to the public.  Ms. Riganti stated that 

there were three tenants in the City-owned building in The Loop (parking garage).  The three tenants 

included a clothing store, a dog bakery, and Create Space, which had been the tenant previously. 
 

9. Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourned at 6:55 pm. 

January 25, 2016 O3-5-2



January 25, 2016 O3-5-3

zgreatens
Typewritten Text
Submitted for public comment by Mark Harvey, 719 Harvard Ave.,
University City, MO 63130
December 23, 2015 Plan Commission meeting



January 25, 2016 O3-5-4



January 25, 2016 O3-5-5



1

TRUSTEES:
Mark Harvey

Morton Hyman
Eileen Pheiffer

1

K
in
gs
la
n
d

Police

Lewis Park 

U
.H
ts
. B

lk
.1

2

K
in
gs
la
n
d

Police

Lewis Park 

U
.H
ts
. B

lk
.1

BLOCK 4

3 Founder E.G.Lewis                      The Woman’s Magazine4

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

B
LO

C
K
   
O
N
E

Block 4

City 
Hall

Delmar/
Harvard

Junior High 
(Now Lewis 
Center) 

Police

Old 
Library

(school 
parking)

(city 
parking)

(city 
parking)

(Previous               
school parking)

LIBRARY
with free parking

3

2

1
5

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

DELMAR 
SCHOOL

SCHOOL 
PARKING

HARVARD 
BUILDING

OLD PLAYGROUND/ 
NEW LIBRARY

JUNIOR HIGH, 
now                  

LEWIS CENTER 
(Washington 
University) 

City Hall

Police

NEW PLAY YARD: 
1968

Old 
Library

6

January 25, 2016 O3-5-6

zgreatens
Typewritten Text
Presentation by Mark Harvey, 719 Harvard Ave., University City, MO 63130
for December 23, 2015 Plan Commission meeting.



2

“The character of the lots 
in said University Heights 
as high grade residential 
property may be 
established and retained.”  

7

University Heights is 
significant not only  for what 
it was but for what it has 
remained.  It was developed 
almost exactly as E.G. Lewis 
intended…it has not been 
significantly altered. 8

9

“Public Activity” Zoning

Parking “In limited 
circumstances as 
‘accessory’                           
to another use”

ALREADY A Parking Lot?  

COMMERCIAL Parking? 
10

• We WILL defend our Indenture              

• We request                                               
Planning Commission Hearing 

• We request rejection of                             
commercial parking use of 601 Trinity11

TRUSTEES:
Mark Harvey

Morton Hyman
Eileen Pheiffer

12

January 25, 2016 O3-5-7


	January 25 2016 agenda
	2016-01-11 min with adds
	2016-01-11 Reg
	Adds Jan 11 2016

	Bill 9282 complete
	cover_6709-6711_Plymouth_subd
	6709-6711_Plymouth_subdivision_CC_submittal
	Bill 9282 6709-6711-Plymouth

	#1 11-12-15 Meeting Minutes GPC
	#2 110915 Urban Forestry Meeting Minutes
	#3 BOA_Minutes_2015_11_16_Draft
	#4 DRAFT Park Commission Minutes 01-13-16
	#5 Plan_Commission_minutes_2015-12-23_draft



